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The Bell Tower lies to the north o f the 
town of Berwick, and is located mid-way 
between the Tweed estuary and . the sea, 
approximately 100m to the west of Lord’s 

Mount (fig. 1). It is an octagonal structure with 
a roughly circular basement, stands four stories 
high and is tiered, with a chamfered plinth 
course between each storey (figs. 2, 3). In addi­
tion to the (now blocked) doorways on its east- 
west axis, which once gave access to a wall- 
walk, there are rectangular window openings 
on the cardinal faces o f its upper three levels. 
At one time it formed an integral part of the 
northern mural defences, whose exposed core 
can be seen to be bonded to the tower on its 
western face (Face 1). Defences in this area 
began as a palisade and ditch built by Edward 
I after his capture o f the town in 1296, though 
the medieval stone wall here is primarily of 
early fourteenth century date. These northern 
defences were critical to the security o f the 
town, since it lies to the north o f the Tweed, a 
river which elsewhere forms a natural boundary 
between England and Scotland.

CONSERVATION

The Bell Tower is in the guardianship of English 
Heritage. By the early 1990s the monument was 
in need of consolidation, with the decay of  
timber lintels causing the collapse of areas of 
masonry, particularly in the upper storeys. 
Moreover, the exposed position of the tower, 
together with the damaging effects of a rapid- 
hardener cement used in earlier consolidation 
projects, had caused serious weathering of both 
masonry and joints. A first-aid consolidation 
project was undertaken in 1992,1 involving the 
removal of harmful vegetation, the replacement

of defective timber lintels, limited stone replace­
ment and substantial areas o f repointing. The 
project aimed to preserve as much of the ori­
ginal fabric and its historic repairs as possible; 
replacement stone was closely matched with the 
original, as were the various mortar mixes used. 
To assist in this conservation strategy a survey 
of the monument was commissioned. This was 
based upon a photogrammetric plot o f the 
exterior elevations o f the tower which was sub­
sequently enhanced by the author, who added 
architectural details, the identification o f stone 
and mortar types, and the degree o f weathering 
(figs. 4a and 4b). Following the clearance of 
fallen debris and masonry from the interior of 
the tower, a small-scale excavation was under­
taken in an attempt to determine the date and 
nature of its internal circular basement -  and to 
see if this correlated with documentary refer­
ences to earlier bell towers on this site.

HISTORY

Earlier research into the Bell Tower at Berwick 
has been limited,2 but this distinctive landmark 
has attracted considerable attention through 
the ages, being depicted in various guises and 
receiving brief mention in many accounts o f the 
town’s fortifications. Bell towers were o f con­
siderable strategic importance in the middle 
ages and their construction and maintenance 
are repeatedly mentioned in accounts of 
Berwick’s fortifications. The correlation 
between such references and the surviving Bell 
Tower is however difficult, as there appears to 
have been more than one such tower within this 
area o f Berwick’s northern defences, with the 
nomenclature for these towers not being static



Fig. 1 The location o f the Bell Tower in Berwick's northern defences.

through time, varying from 'bell tower’ to 'day- 
watch tower’ to 'alarm bells’. Several early 
accounts o f strategic towers cannot therefore 
be ascribed with any certainty to the site o f the 
present Bell Tower. Nevertheless, it is worth 
referring to some of these, as they give an 
indication of the important role such buildings 
played, as well as providing descriptions of 
possible forerunners to the present structure.

The earliest reference to a watch tower on 
Berwick’s defences is in an account by King 
Richard II’s chamberlain, Sir Gerard Heron in 
1392:
and in money paid to John Wirsope, mason, for 
making and repairing a tower near Walleisyate in 
Berwick town, and for one “day-wacche” and one

alarm bell in the same tower, made under a form 
laid down by the said earl of Northumberland, 
using timber, stone, lime and other things necessary 
for the tower at John’s expense, under an agreement 
made with him by the earl and Gerard Heron, in all 
for the task, £28.13s.4d...  The same chamberlain 
accounts for three fir spars bought and used on the 
repair of the watch-houses, 12d.. . and on lead 
bought and used on the hooks of six new windows 
in the upper houses of the tower above the watch 
bell at Waleisgate in Berwick town.. ,16d.. .  And 
on fifteen stones of iron bought for the fastenings 
of doors and windows in that tower and doing 
other necessary things, at lOd. each, 12s.6d.’3
From the above description it can be inferred 
that a tower located near Wallsgate (and there­
fore in the vicinity, and possibly on the site, of
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Fig. 2 Schematic plan o f Berwick 
Bell Tower at ground level (solid 
lines), with stepped rises (hatched 
lines).

the present Bell Tower), was in the late four­
teenth century, primarily a stone structure, with 
windows for observation and an alarm bell. 
Between the years 1446-9 a new alarm bell was 
transported from London to Berwick,4 but it is 
not known whether this was intended for the 
same day-watch tower as that described above.

A comprehensive survey of Berwick’s walls 
was undertaken by Christopher Morris and 
Richard Cavendish, probably in 1533; it refers 
to several observation towers in this critical 
northern portion o f the town’s defences.5 An 
unnamed tower and Wawlles Tower, on the line 
of the northern medieval wall, were then 
reported to be ‘dampned and fylled full o f erth’ 
and clearly in a sorry state o f repair.6 At the 
north eastern comer of these medieval defences 
this survey does refer to a bell-tower, but this 
structure was clearly not on the same site as its 
present namesake, and can in fact be identified 
as the comer tower which was replaced in 1539

by a circular artillery fort known, by 1564, as 
Lord’s Mount.7

In 1547 there was renewed interest in the 
effectiveness o f Berwick’s defensive warning 
mechanisms when a request was made for a 
new alarm bell for the eday watchhouse’.8 The 
importance now placed upon an effective watch 
tower and signalling system is illustrated by the 
Ancient Statutes o f Berwick, signed by Queen 
Elizabeth I on 1 October 1560, which prescribe 
the death penalty for failure to man the 
day-watch and ring the alarm bell in an emer­
gency.9 Unfortunately these documents give no 
specific location to this sday-watchhouse’ and 
watchbells, but they do indicate the existence 
of several watchbells in various quarters of the 
town.

It will be evident from this review that we 
lack conclusive documentary evidence for the 
existence o f a tower on the site o f today’s Bell 
Tower before Elizabeth’s period. However, by



Fig, 3 Berwick Bell Tower, view from the south-east 1994: English Heritage. Copyright English 
Heritage Photo Library/Neal Askew.
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Fig. 4a Berwick Bell Tower: elevations o f faces 1-4.
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Fig. 4b Berwick Bell Tower: elevations o f faces 5-8.
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the mid-sixteenth century there clearly was a 
tower on or near the site because it is depicted 
on two Elizabethan pictorial maps, dating from 
1561 and 1570.10 On both these maps the tower 
is shown with a semi-circular ground plan 
(fig. 5), but an enlarged detail on Rowland 
Johnson’s 1561 map represents the ground plan 
as a complete circle.11 W hether this was a styl­
istic convention or was intended as an accurate 
depiction o f the existing tower’s ground plan is 
uncertain.

In 1558 the eminent military engineer and 
Surveyor of Berwick, Sir Richard Lee, 
embarked on the programme of bastion forti­
fications which remain such a prominent part 
of Berwick’s visible history.12 As part of this 
project Lee proposed the demolition of the 
ancient bell tower on the grounds that it might 
prove to be of use to an approaching enemy.13 
Although Lee had not included the outer north­
ern defences in his new defence scheme, he 
wished to retain them until work on the inner 
bastioned scheme was well advanced. Delays 
on this enormously costly project fuelled 
m ounting concern over the effectiveness of the 
town’s northern defences. In a change of policy, 
the tower was therefore retained until 1577, 
when a substantial programme of maintenance 
on the northern medieval walls, including the 
rebuilding of this "day watch tower’ was imple­
mented. The location and dimensions of this 
tower accord so well with the present Bell 
Tower that the two can be regarded as certainly 
one and the same structure:

Since the 29th April last, the castle, town walls 
betwixt it and the Bell Tower, and the fallen wall at 
Mary gate, are made up -  a new' ward house built 
at Mary gate -  the old palace, windmills and other 
places repaired. The day watch tower is rebuilt in 
rough stone in eight ""cantes” , 26 feet high above 
the walls, and 14 feet in timber above the same 
stone work, surmounting the old tower six feet in 
height.’14

Despite this account, there were some sugges­
tions at the turn of the twentieth century that 
the surviving octagonal Bell Tower was a relic 
of the thirteenth-century Edwardian walls.15 
Although these were quickly dispelled at the

Fig. 5 The location o f  a semi-circular tower on the 
site o f  the present Bell Tower as depicted in a plan o f  
circa 1570: British Library, Cotton M S, Augustus I  ii 
14 (Reproduced by perm ission o f  The British 
Library).

time, there remains the possibility that the six­
teenth-century tower was built on the site, and 
more significantly on the foundations, of a pre­
existing tower, as proposed by Commander 
Norman in his 1907 official guide to Berwick’s 
fortifications:
It must be explained that the octagonal structure 
which meets the eye is not the original Edwardian 
Beacon or Bell Tower, which was pulled down by 
Elizabeth, but its "Tudor representative” or suc­
cessor erected not long after. The circular base of 
the first tow'er may be seen by looking down 
through one of the window openings.’16

The theory that the existing Bell Tower stands 
on an Edwardian base was endorsed by Pevsner



and by Cowe,17 but would appear to conflict 
with the pictorial representations o f a semi­
circular tower in this location on the two Eliza- 
bethen maps already cited. Unfortunately, par­
tial excavation of the interior o f the tower was 
inconclusive in providing a date for the circular 
platform on the interior of the tower, nor does 
the exposed fabric unequivocably indicate that 
it belonged to a pre-Elizabethen phase.18 It 
remains a possibility therefore that the circular 
base is contemporary with the octagonal con­
struction and was a device employed to assist 
in the laying out, and subsequent construction, 
of the existing tower.

The rough stone described in the account of 
the 1577 construction appears, from the ori­
ginal fabric surviving on today’s Bell Tower, to 
have consisted of roughly dressed, coursed, 
sandstone rubble with ashlar quoins, pointed 
with a lime-based mortar. Some of the original 
architectural details were, however, far from 
“rough”: thus although now weathered, the 
surviving window jambs and lintels are all 
chamfered and a depressed Tudor arch formed 
a lintel over the wall-walk doorway of Face 1. 
Moreover, the blocked recesses above this 
doorway, and its counterpart on Face 5, origin­
ally held decorative coats-of-arms, which were 
only lost towards the end of the last century.19

The present height of the tower is only mar­
ginally less than the measurement recorded in 
1577 for the top of the stone structure, showing 
that little besides the timber superstructure has 
been lost from the height of the building. A late 
seventeenth-century oil painting o f Berwick,20 
provides the only picture of this timber super­
structure, which extends a couple of stories 
above the stone walling and may represent the 
original observation platform erected in 1577. 
The (now blocked) wall-walk doorways indi­
cate that the medieval wall, though lowered, 
had been maintained and strengthened to resist 
artillery bombardment, its height being 
recorded in 1587:

The old wall from the Mary gate to the Day watch, 
with the “vamure” 4ft high, 17ft high. From the 
Day watch to the Bell Tower, same height.21

In 1587 the tower is called the “Day watch”, 
but by the early seventeenth-century the term 
“Bell Tower” was applied to the octagonal 
structure which survives with that name in 
Berwick today; this is illustrated by a descrip­
tion of the town, probably dating to the 1620s:
It hath five goodly Gates, a Watch Tower called the 
Bell Tower which gave wameing by towleing a Bell 
at the sight of any Shipps and did hang out a Flagg, 
giveing as many towles as there were Shipps, and 
such like if they espied any horsemen within our 
Bounders.22

In 1619 the Berwick Guild agreed to the sale of 
the Bell Tower’s bell:
It is this day ordered by generall consent of the 
Guild that the Bell hanging in the Bell tower shalbe 
sold to Mr John Durie of Burnt Island in the 
kingdome of Scotland which Bell and lockers being 
weighed amounteth to six hundred fiftie eight 
pound five stone and twelve pound to the hundreth 
wher that wich att xiid the pound amounteth to 
thirtie sixe poundes tenn shillings for wich some a 
bill is taken from the said John Durie and Mr John 
Wilkyn burgesse to be paid within one month next 
after the shipping of the said bell.23

The fate of this bell can probably be traced 
because a recast bell contemporary with these 
events (fig. 6) still survives in Burntisland, Fife, 
where it is housed in the former burgh cham­
bers.24 This bell was recast in 1677, but local 
tradition preserved the story that the original 
bell, cast in 1595, had been purchased from 
Berwick, where it had supposedly hung in the 
tower of the Castle.25

The next Government was however con­
cerned over the absence o f Berwick’s bell and, 
overlooking the earlier decision about its sale, 
tried to bring the Mayor to account during a 
visit from Charles I to the town in 163 3.26 A  
replacement bell for Berwick’s Bell Tower was 
finally installed in 163927 at a time when 
improvements were being made to the northern 
medieval walls as an outer line o f defence;28 its 
last recorded tolling was staged by Charles 
Jackson and William Couttie in 1683 as a sym­
bolic gesture over a border salmon fishing 
dispute.29

By the eighteenth century the Bell Tower and 
northern defences o f Berwick had lost their



Fig. 6 The bell that was possibly sold to 
Burntisland, Fife, in 1619 (R eproduced by perm ission  
o f  F ife Council M useums: K irkcaldy M useum  & A rt 
Gallery). (H eight o f  bell 810 m m )

strategic importance. Despite this, the question 
of the Tower’s maintenance was raised again in 
1714, as it had proved a useful navigational 
landm ark,30 a function which is fully apparent 
in the Buck brothers’ 1745 engraving o f the 
town. In 1799 Fuller refers to the Bell Tower as 
a “ ruin” o f only four stories in height, but 
recommended that further stories be added:
and the furnishing of it with a proper telescope, 
would answer the purpose, 1st, of a useful 
observatory in time of war, 2dly, of an excellent 
land-mark for ships at sea. and 3dly, of a great 
ornament to the town'.31

By the turn of the nineteenth century attention 
was largely focused on Fuller’s third category, 
that o f an ornament to the town. It was clearly 
an im portant landmark on Berwick’s skyline 
and as such features in a painting by that most

famous of landscape artists, J. M. W. Turner 
dated 1797.32 Somewhat later Robert G ood’s 
fanciful lithograph of 1853 gives the four stor­
eyed Bell Tower an onion dome worthy of the 
Kremlin, but his illustration bears little, if any, 
resemblance to the actual structure -  nor in all 
probability to the northern defences as they 
appeared in 1296, which it purports to depict. 
However, more accurate depictions of the Bell 
Tower based on observation do survive from 
the nineteenth century, and help to provide a 
rough chronology for the early modern repairs 
which are still evident in the fabric. The tower 
appears as a romantic ruin par excellence, com­
plete with dairy maid and stray cow, in an inset 
to a plan of Berwick on the frontispiece to 
Sheldon’s 1849 history of the town33 (fig. 7). 
Although the setting is slightly contrived, this 
engraving provides a good record of the ruin­
ous state of the tower at the time. The central 
face depicted is that of the east-facing Face 5, 
as can be confirmed by the upstanding sections 
o f wall behind the monument. The quoin stones 
at its north eastern angle are shown as missing, 
this area having subsequently been replaced 
with roughly coursed limestone. The jambs of 
the wall-walk opening on the second tier are 
depicted as incomplete and are likewise now 
replaced with limestone. The upper storey is 
drawn as being in a ruinous state, with the 
uppermost courses having crumbled to below 
the level of the window lintels.

What is probably a more accurate depiction 
is provided by John C. Buckler’s illustration of 
the 'Watch Tower at the NE angle of Fortifica­
tion’ of 1877 (fig. 8),34 which was clearly pro­
duced from direct observation and provides an 
extremely useful record of the tower’s condition 
at this slightly later date. Faces 1-3 have been 
sketched in such detail that individual quoin 
and lintel stones can be matched with those 
surviving today. The uppermost storey had by 
now been consolidated,35 and the masonry 
appears to be in a stable condition, apart from 
substantial sections of curtain wall butting up 
against Face 1, of which little evidence now 
remains. In the sketch a further octagonal tier 
is revealed underlying the lowest chamfered



Fig. 7 Sketch  o f  the Bell Tower in the frontisp iece  
to Sheldon s 1849 H istory o f  Berwick-upon-Tweed.

plinth course; this is now buried beneath the 
present ground level.36

At some stage towards the end of the nine­
teenth century further consolidation of the Bell 
Tower took place, involving the blocking of the 
wall-walk doorways with small, coursed sand­
stone and a lime-based m ortar. In a separate 
programme of works at about this time large 
areas of weathered sandstone were removed 
and patched with roughly coursed limestone 
(and an occasional stone of granite or whin), 
and hand-fired bricks for galetting. It is possible 
that this limestone cladding of the ground floor 
tier of Face 1 was in progess w'hen at the turn 
o f the century John Swain produced his engrav­
ing of the Tower based on a photograph by 
W. Green;37 "work in progress’ would account 
for the bare, uncoursed appearance of his rep­
resentation of this part of the monument, with

Fig. 8 ‘ Watch Tower at the N E  angle o f
Fortification' by J. C. Buckler 1877: M S  Add. 36440 
f  89 (Reproduced by permission o f  the British 
Library).

the two reclining men alongside possibly rep­
resenting workmen.

One of the earliest postcards of the Bell 
Tower (fig. 9 ),38 shows it festooned with flags, 
providing the backdrop for a group of local 
fishermen and their families, possibly celebrat­
ing Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee in 1897. 
The production of such postcards depicting the 
Tow er escalated at the beginning of the twenti­
eth century,39 in response perhaps to civic pride 
aroused by its proposed destruction at this 
time. The Rev. James King, vicar of St. M ary’s,



Fig. 9 E arly postcard  o f  the Bell Tower, B R O .281/ 
14 (Reproduced by perm ission o f  Berwick-upon- 
Tweed R ecord Office).

organised a campaign against the Town Coun- 
ciPs proposed demolition of the two remaining 
fragments of medieval wall near the Bell Tower 
for a housing development.40 This resulted in 
the Bell Tower and the afore-mentioned frag­
ments of wall being leased to the Government 
in 1904.41 In 1906 the Office of Works carried 
out consolidation works on the Tower,42 this 
date matching that inscribed into the scotch 
pointed capping of the uppermost tier of Face 
I.43 Further minor works were carried out in 
the 1930s.44

SUM M ARY -  AN D SOME PARALLELS

Although doubt still surrounds the nature of 
any previous towers on the site of the present

Bell Tower, this octagonal structure was cer­
tainly in existence by 1577. Its history has been 
long and varied, with a gradual shift of function 
through time from strategic to monumental. 
Pictorial and written records have made it pos­
sible to compile a history of its construction 
and maintenance for over 400 years; the consol­
idation project of 1992 being the most recent. 
Berwick Bell Tower is a unique monument in 
Britain and remarkable in its survival. Such 
towers were once numerous: Sheldon recorded 
87 such towers as having been extant in 
Northum berland alone in 1460,45 but few free­
standing bell towers, with no ecclesiastical asso­
ciation, remain in Britain today. Given this 
widespread loss it is difficult to find close paral­
lels for the form of the Berwick structure. Loose 
parallels may be drawn with the upper portion 
of the octagonal Roman pharos at Dover, 
which was reconstructed for use as a belfry for 
the adjoining church of St. Mary de Castro 
between 1426 and 143 7.46 One of the best visual 
parallels to Berwick’s Bell Tower, however, is a 
three-tiered polygonal tower in the walled 
defences of the Kremlin.47 It is described as 
Ivan the G reat’s Bell Tower, and appears, on 
the evidence of a sixteenth-century Leningrad 
Library codex to have been rebuilt on the site 
of the church of St. John Climacus (1505), the 
foundations of which are depicted as octa­
gonal.48 Both sixteenth-century bell towers 
share an octagonal plan, were tiered in their 
construction and furnished with apertures for 
observation and to allow for the tolling of their 
respective bells to warn of attack. With their 
loss of strategic importance many such towers 
were left to decay, and it is perhaps thanks to 
Berwick Bell Tower’s additional role as a nav­
igational landmark, that it was maintained 
sufficiently to survive into the nineteenth cen­
tury when antiquarian interest ensured its pre­
servation. The 1992 consolidation project with 
its limited stone replacement, treatment and 
replacement of defective timber lintels and pro­
gramme of repointing will ensure that the Bell 
Tower in Berwick will continue to provide a 
“great ornament to the tow n”49 for many years 
to come.
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